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FOREWORD

The following sketch of Saint Dominic’s Church
and Parish, in Washington City, has been drawn
principally from conventual or parochial registers,
“fair journals”, catalogues and other records of the
eastern province of Dominican Fathers. 'The pub-
lic prints, both secular and Catholic, and odd letters
chanced upon here and there have been of great
aid in settling many facts, and in determining
many dates. Nor have we neglected to consult
those of the old-time parishioners still living in the
congregation, or in other parts of the National Cap-
ital. Many of themm were found to retain vivid
memories of the early days of Saint Dominic’s,
and of the efforts and sacrifices of both priests and
people in behalf of religion in southwest Washing-
ton. Indeed, the assistance derived from these
reminiscences in getting together the history of the
church surpassed every expectation. To all per-
sons from whom we have received such help, we
here extend our heartfelt thanks.

But experience shows that man’s memory is too
undependable to be accepted without caution and
reserve. 'To his regret, every careful historian
whose researches take him to first-hand sources and
documents, knows that much of what has been
written and passes as history, is replete with error,
because based on faulty memory, hearsay evidence,
or distorted tradition. For this reason, we have not
considered as available or made use of any state-
ment by those consulted in the preparation of this




little work, unless confirmed by mere than one testi-
mony, or sustained by other proof that brought
convigtion.

We venture to trust, therefore, that our narra-
tive, brief though it is, will prove to be not only of
interest to its readers, and accurate in detail, but of
value to the history of the Archdiocese of Balti-
more, as well as to the record of Catholicity in the
nation’s capital city. Indeed, it seems to us, such
parochial sketches are not merely necessary pre-
parations for the history of a diocese, but corner-
stones upon which the broader story of the Church
in any country must be built.

The account of Saint Dominic’s could have been
drawn out to much greater length by a list of its
friends, benefactors, ete., such as is commonly found
in similar stories. But we have designedly, and
for reasons that the reader will see, departed from
the usual method, mentioning the name of only
one of those who contributed towards the construc-
tion of the early church and the welfare of the
parish. Saint Dominic’s was erected under rather
special circumstances. Its people worked as one
man in its building. All gave with a good heart,
and according to their means. The poorer made
up for their smaller pecuniary assistance by hard,
faithful labor on the structures or in their behalf.
It is rare indeed to find so willing a spirit, or so edi-
fying and good-natured an emulation, as that which
has always been characteristic of the Dominican
Parish in the District of Columbia. It was this
oneness of mind and heart that, without noise or
“drive,” has finally cleared the beautiful church of




its burden of debt, and prepared the way for the
consecration of the sacred edifice that is to take
place in the coming October, to commemorate which
these pages have been written.

Thus we venture to fancy that, apart from the
Catholic history it contains, this modest brochure
will not fail to be a source of edification to its
readers. Perhaps it may be an inspiration for
more than one pastor and parish similarly situated.
May it contribute towards the continuance of the
beautiful spirit that has long prevailed among the
faithful under the charge of the Friars Preacher in
southwest Washington.

V. F. O’Dan~izL, O.P.

The Dominican House of Studies,
Catholic University of America,
Washington, D. C.

Feast of St. Dominic,

August 4, 1919.
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OUR BELOVED CARDINAL GIBBONS

WHO PREACHED THE EVENING SERMON AT THE DERICATION OF
SAINT DOMINIC'S CHURCH, JUNE 13, 1875



VERY REV. RAYMOND MEAGHER, O.P., S.T.L.
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History of Saint Dominic’s Church,
‘ WASHINGTON, D. C. '

EARLY DOMINICANS IN MARYLAND.

The earliest Dominican to labor within the
limits of the state of Maryland, as far as records tell
us, was the Rev. Francis Bodkin of the Irish Pro-
vince. Father Bodkin, on the advice of physicians,
and with the permission of his provincial, left his
native land in search of health. His destination
was what is now the southern portion of the United
States, but which was then under Spanish domi-
nation. On his arrival at Baltimore, Archbishop
Carroll persuaded him to accept a pastoral charge
in his own diocese. Father Bodkin was then placed
at Hagerstown, whence he attended other adjacent
missions. This was in 1795 and 1796. But in the
latter year, as his health did not improve, he went
on to the diocese of New Orleans.

Then came, about 1800, Rev. John C. Fenwick,
a scion of the well-known Maryland family of that
patronymic. Father Fenwick, on the completion
of his education abroad, had joined the English pro-
vince of Dominicans; but after an absence of nearly
thirty years, he returned to labor as a missionary
apostolic in the land of his birth. Father John, as
he was familiarly called, was a most kindly and lov-
able man, as well as a learned and zealous priest.
Bishop Carroll retained him in the former colony
of the Lords Baltimore. From 1804 until his




death, August 20, 1815, he made his home with the
Jesuit Fathers at Saint Thomas’, Chapel Point,
Charles County, whence he attended widely scat-
tered missions.

Again, late in 1804, two other Friars Preacher
arrived from England, Revs. Edward D. Fenwick
and Robert A. Angier. The former was a nephew
of Father John, and afterwards the first bishop of
Cincinnati, Ohio. They came for the purpose of
establishing their Order in Father Fenwick’s native
state of Maryland. But Archbishop Carroll, whose
solicitude for his flock in the new west had caused
him, prior to their arrival, to promise them to the
desolate Church of Kentucky, earnestly recom-
mended that state as the sphere for their commend-
able desire and apostolic labors. In the meantime,
however, Father Fenwick was given temporary
charge of the Piscataway mission, Prince (zeorge’s
County, while his confrére was assigned to the
Bryantown district, in the neighboring county of
Charles. Both won the hearts of the ordinary and
the people by their zeal and priestly deportment.
But in the summer.of 1806, pursuant to the wishes
of the Archbishop, Father Fenwick proceeded to
Kentucky to raise the standard of his Order there.
Father Angier followed him in the autumn of the
ensuing year.

But Father Angier’s health broke down under
the strain of the missions in Kentucky; and in 1816,
with the permission of his provincial, he returned
to labor for a second time on those of Maryland.
Archbishop Neal placed him in charge of his
former mission of Bryantown, to which were at-




tached those of Mattawoman and the present Wal-
dorf. The church at Piscataway also appears to
have been under his care. Here the good friar
labored zealously until 1825, when he returned to
England.

Still again, Rev. Thomas J. Stanton informs us
(4 Century of Growth of the Church in Western
Maryland, Vol. 11, pp. 246, 248), Father E. D.
Fenwick, of whom mention has been made, and his
nephew, Rev. N. D. Young, attended missions in
Garrett and Alleghany counties from 1819 to 1822.
The places to which they principally gave their
ministrations, were Cumberland and Blooming
Rose (our modern Friendsville). These two
fathers were the apostles of Ohio. Overburdened
as they already were with apostolic labors in their
own missionary field, the occasional visits which
they made to western Maryland, and which neces-
sitated long rides over the mountains, show indeed
an earnest zeal in the cause of Christ and His

Church.

A PERMANENT FOUNDATION

But Saint Dominic’s, Washington City, was the
first permanent home of the Dominicans in the
present Archdiocese of Baltimore. It owes its
existence to the good-will of the Most Rev. Francis
P. Kenrick, the sixth metropolitan of our proto-
American bishopric. In the early years of his
priestly labors in Kentucky, that scholarly prelate
learned to love and admire the Friars Preacher
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for the spirit of zeal and self-sacrifice which they
manifested in the pioneer days of the western
Chuzch. When, therefore, he was promoted from
the diocese of Philadelphia to the archiepiscopal see
of Baltimore, he resolved to ask them to accept a
house in his new jurisdiction, which was the birth-
place of their American founder, Father Edward
Dominic Fenwick.

Archbishop Kenrick’s request was made early
in 1852. But in the meantime, while permission
from the Order’s Father General and the papal

“beneplacit” to accept the kindly offer were

awaited, the Catholics living in the portion of the
National Capital which was then known as the
“Island”, began to petition for a church in their
part of the city. The “Island”, so called because
bounded by the Potomac, the Eastern Branch, and
the old canal, embraced nearly all southwest Wash-
ington. To satisfy the desire of these people, as
well as to realize his own wish, the good prelate
now tendered the Dominicans the territory as a
parish.* _

Although that section of Washington was then
but sparsely settled, and there were few Catholics

. on the Island, its promises for the future were such

as to make the offer most generous. Accordingly,
in the closing days of 1852, or early in 1853, Rev.
George A. J. Wilson was sent east by saintly
Father Matthew A. O’Brien, then provincial, to

(1) Archbishop Kenrick desired the fathers to take a parish in
his episcopal city of Baltimore also. But circumstances of the
time made it impossible for them to accept this second generous
offer.




‘begin the work of organizing a Dominican parish
in the National Capital.

VERY REV. MATTHEW A. O'BRIEN,
PROVINCIAL WHEN SAINT DOMINIC'S PARISH WAS ACCEPTED

The first baptism on the records of the parish
bears the date of April 16, 1853, and is that of
Elizabeth Frances, daughter of Henry W. and
Rachael Freeman Wathen. The godmother was
Ann Tull. The first marriage was that of William
Walsh and Margaret Donahoe, July 30, 1853.
Both were from county Cork, Ireland. The first
death was that of William Donovan, who died,
May 2, 1853, and was buried two days later in
Saint Patrick’s Graveyard.

Father Wilson was received by the islanders




with open arms. Ground was soon purchased
from Georgetown College. for the erection of a
churgh, school and convent. 'The land thus se-
cured, an excellent site for the purpose, included
the eastern half of block four hundred and sixty-
six, and extended along the west side of Sixth Street
from E to F. But the erection of buildings in
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(PHOTO BY ANDREW A. CRAWFORD)

THE HOME OF GEORGE MATTINGLY
THAT DESERVES TO BE CALLED THE FIRST CHURCH IN SOUTHWEST WASHINGTON

keeping with the promises held out by the locality
was a matter of time, labor and patience. Money
was scarce, and small the number of the faithful in
the undeveloped territory assigned to the new par-
ish. Fortunately, George Mattingly, a devout
Catholic and a well-to-do man, in addition to a
generous contribution, not only opened the parlors
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of his mansion as a place of worship for the people,
but gave the fathers a home with the family. Al-
though considerably changed, the Mattingly house,
which still stands on the north side of F Street,
between Sixth and Four-and-a-half streets, deserves
to be called the first Catholic church and rectory in
southwest Washington.

A man of no common courage who had seen hard
service, and hard times in the west, Father Wilson
shrank not before the trials with which he was con-
fronted in the National Capital. In the spring-
of 1853, he was joined by the Rev. Nicholas D.
Young, whose nearly forty years of strenuous mis-
sionary life in the west and south had given him a
 national reputation. For Father Young the lo-
cation purchased for the future Dominican Church
had associations that were quite dear and personal.
It had been the former site of the barn and barn-
yard of his grandfather, Notley Young, a wealthy
landowner of Maryland and the District of Colum-
bia, which the veteran friar remembered well. The
two priests had the happiness, July 1, 1853, of
breaking sod for the sacred edifice on the corner of
Sixth and F Streets. In the early fall of the same
year, however, Father Young returned to his
charge at Somerset, Ohio. But he was replaced
in Washington by the saintly and kindly Father
Sydney A. Clarkson, who was to give some years
to the spiritual regeneration of the Island.

What with the generosity and willing hands of
the people, and what with the zeal of the priests,
the work of building now went on apace. According-
ly, on the Feast of Saint Joseph, Sunday, March
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19, 1854, Father Wilson, with the authorization of
Archbishop Kenrick, blessed and opened the new
church for divine worship, dedicating it to the ser-
vice of God under the title and patronage of Saint
Dominic, the founder of the great religious order
that bears his name. Father Clarkson and Rev.
Charles H. Stonestreet, provincial of the eastern
province of Jesuit Fathers, assisted at the dedi-
cation. ‘Father Stonestreet added dignity to the
occasion by his presence, and his masterly discourse
delighted the large audience, composed of all creeds,
that had come to witness the ceremonies.

The new church fronted on Sixth Street. Simul-
taneously with it, but a little to the rear, and facing
F Street, arose an unpretentious, yet substantial
and comfortable brick structure that was to be a
conventual home for the fathers. The rectory,
it would seem, was completed and occupied only a
short time before the blessing of the sacred edifice.
It, too, was placed under the patronage of the
Order’s founder, Saint Dominiec. Thus, for more
than a year, the mansion of George Mattingly
served both as a church for the people of southwest
Washington, and as an abode for their pastors.
His broad hospitality and his generosity towards
the infant institution have placed Mr. Mattingly
among Saint Dominic’s greatest benefactors.

It was a source of regret to all that Archbishop
Kenrick could not come to dedicate the new
Church.  Father Young was also disappointed,
because he was unable to attend the ceremonies.
Like his uncle, Bishop E. D. Fenwick, he had al-
ways desired to see his Order established in the old
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Catholic colony of Lord Baltimore, which was the
place of his birth; and his heart was set upon being
present at the opening of the Dominican church at
W ashington.

Withal, March 19, 1854, was a day of sincere
rejoicing for the Catholics in the southwestern
section of the National Capital, for they now had
a temple of prayer within easy distance of their
homes. For the Dominicans it was even more than
this. Not merely was Saint Dominic’s a new and
promising establishment in the province. It was
their first house east of the Alleghany Mountains;
and its erection marks the beginning of their
growth, as well as of their well-known fruitful mis-
stonary and other apostolic labors along the Atlan-
tic seaboard. More than once has the writer heard
the venerable Cardinal Gibbons (speaking of how
the Friars Preacher went from Maryland to Ken-
tucky in obedience to the wish of Archbishop Car-
roll, and returned to Washington at the solicita-
tion of Archbishop Kenrick) say that he believed
that their two places in the nation’s capital was a
fulfillment of the Scriptural promises: “Cast thy
bread upon the running waters; for after a long
time thou shalt find it again.”

In point of age Saint Dominic’s stands sixth
among the churches of the present Washington
City. First comes Holy Trinity, Georgetown,
which was built in 1792. The next was Saint
Patrick’s, the date of whose erection is generally
given as 1796. Saint Mary’s commonly known as
the Barry Chapel, because built through the inter-
est and at the expense of James Barry, a friend of
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Archbishop Carroll, dated from ¥806. But it has
long ceased to exist, and its corner-stone is em-
bedded in the walls of the Holy Name Chapel of the
modern Dominican Church. It stood east of South
Capitol Street, two blocks due south of the present
Saint Vincent de Paul’s.  The Barry Chapel was
replaced by Saint Peter’s, on Capitol Hill, in 1821
or 1822, which makes it the third oldest parish in
the city. It was followed by Saint Matthew’s,
dedicated in 1840. The German Church of Saint
Mary Mother of God was built in 1846.
Then came the subject of our sketch. In this
enumeration, however, as the reader will notice, we
have not taken into account the Young and the
Queen chapels of ante-revolutionary days, the lat-
ter of which was on the site where now stands
Saint Francis de Sales’ Church, LLangdon. These
were oratories attached to private houses, because
the penal laws against the Catholics forbade them
to have public churches, but the faithful of the
neighborhood went to them for mass and the recep-
tion of the sacraments.

The first Saint Dominic’s was a brick structure,
and Gothic in architecture. In a letter of the time
it is described: “A neat and beautiful build-
ings e Its site is handsome, standing as it does
about the center of the Island, in full view of the
Capitelll..... The dimensions of the church are about
seventy by forty feet. The interior has been
finished in a handsome style, with a rich cornice
and ceiling.” Indeed, it was noted for its neatness,
its devotional interior, and the lightsomeness caused
by its large windows. Though today it would
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attract little attention, at that time it was con-
sidered one of Washington’s fine temples of wor-
ship.

(PHOTO BY ANDREW A. CRAWFORD)
THE FIRST SAINT DOMINIC'S CHURCH

LATER USED AS A SCHOOL
FIRST PASTORIAL RESIDENCE IN THE REAR

The throng that gathered, March 19, 1854, for
the church’s dedication, was an augury of the fu-
ture activity and blessings of which the parish was
to be a center. From the start, Saint Dominic’s
became a favorite resort for the prayerfully dis-
posed. Doubtless many were drawn, in no small
part, by the neatness, the devotional character,
and the cheerful aspect of the sacred edifice of
which we have spoken; for we know that these
things appeal to the soul and inspire worship. But
over and above these must be placed the devotions,
the religious services and instructions, and the
societies for which this church has always been
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noted. They began with the parish, and happily
have been permitted. to suffer no diminution.
Father Nicholas D. Young returned to Wash-
ington late in 1854 or early in 1855, that his breth-
ren might have the aid of his experience in clearing
the new church of its debt, and in furthering the
spiritual interests of the congregation. In June,
1856, Father Wilson, the first superior and founder
of the church, was sent to other fields of labor, and
Rev. N. D. Young, affectionately called Father
Dominic, became superior. But on his resignation,
in the following September, to take charge of two
missions in Prince GGeorge’s County, at the request
of Archbishop Kenrick, the mantle of authority
fell upon the shoulders of gentle and beloved Rev.
Sydney A. Clarkson. Rev. Nicholas R. Young,
a nephew of Father Dominic, had now become the
third member of the little community. Father N.
R. Young had made most of his ecclesiastical
studies in Italy, and was a very learned and elo-
quent -divine. His sermons never failed to draw
large audiences, not only from all parts of the Dis-
trict of Columbia, but from Maryland and Virginia.
On the election, December, 1857, of Father
Clarkson as prior of Saint Rose’s Convent, near
Springfield, Kentucky, his place as superior at the
W ashington house was taken by Rev. N. R. Young.
This change brought Father John T. Nealis, who
afterwards died on the missions in Tennessee; but
he remained only from January to May. In the
same month he was succeeded by Rev. James V.
Edelen. His stay was also short, for his name does
not appear in the records after November. In




later years, however, he returned to Washington
more than once, becoming a well-known-and much
beloved priest through the city. Father Edelen
was followed (November, 1858) by Rev. Matthew
F. McGrath, an eloquent preacher whose zeal was
productive of much good during the more than five
years he labored in the National Capital.

The year 1859 reveals but one new name, that
of Rev. John A. Bokel, who came in August to be
superior, as the junior Father Young was going to
Europe. Elected prior to succeed Father Clark-
son at Saint Rose’s, Father Bokel left for Ken-
tucky in May, the ensuing year. But on the ex-
piration of his term of office there, he returned to
W ashington to play a conspicuous part in the his-
tory of Saint Dominic’s.

~ In September, 1860, Father N. R. Young’s con-
nection with St. Dominic’s was severed by his ap-
pointment to the pastorship of the Dominican
church in Zanesville, Ohio. But a month previous-
ly there had come to Washington two young priests,
ordained in August, 1859, who were to gain a
strong hold on the affections of the parish. They
were Revs. Jeremiah P. Turner and Joseph A.
Scheurman. Father Scheurman’s sacerdotal life,
unfortunately, was all too short.. In the zealous
performance of his duties, he contracted the small-
pox, then raging in the city, and became its victim,
April 2, 1862, being the first member of his Order
to die in Saint Dominic’s rectory. Father Turner
continued his ministrations at the National Capital
until September, 1862. Afterwards, he labored
through all the country east of the Mississippi

P s BosBesiBesBorBesie vl

Rl i ¥



River, held many offices of honor and responsibility
in his province, and became one of our best known
missignaries.

In the meantime, the growth of the parish
through the influx of Catholics to the Island, now
that it had a church, had been rapid. This neces-
sitated an enlargement of the original Saint Domi-
nic’s. Accordingly, it was extended twenty feet
by an addition at the altar end. The precise date
at which this was done, and under which superior,
we have not been able to ascertain. But we are of
the opinion that it was the work of Father Nicholas
R. Young. _ ,

Rev. Charles D). Bowling, an ascetic and austere
man, succeeded Father Bokel as superior in the fall
of 1860, and held the office for a term of three
years. Father Constantine 1.. Kigan was sent to
Saint Dominic’s in April, 1862, retaining his as-
signment to the place until the early fall of 1865.
But from Séptember, 1863, until the close of the
war, he was chaplain of the Ninth Massachusetts
Volunteers in the Army of the Potomac.

But here we shall interrupt our narrative with
an item that is not without its interest in the history
of the Church in the nation’s capital city. In the
early days, most of its churches—the same is true
of other cities—had their own separate little grave-
yards, that were usually near at hand. But now
that Washington’s population was rapidly grow-
ing, it could be seen that the day was not far distant
when it would be necessary for the various pastors
to unite and purchase a large tract of land for bur-
1al purposes in an outlying district. The fathers of
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Saint Dominic’s, foreseeing this, did not start a
graveyard for their church, but buried their dead
in the other cemeteries. = Indeed, they were among
the first to advocate such a step as that of which we
have spoken. Fathers S. A. Clarkson, N. R.
Young, J. A. Bokel, and C. D. Bowling were es-
pecially active in the cause, and were largely in-
strumental in securing the present Mount Olivet
Cemetery, which is still held in the name of six of
the city’s older churches.

In September, 1863, Father Wilson, the founder
of the institution, was sent to take Father Egan’s
place in the parish; but two months later he was
elected prior of Saint Rose’s, in Kentucky. In
the preceding June, Rev. Peter C. Coll, a zealous
priest, an earnest preacher, and a good missionary
of the old school, had also become a member of Saint
Dominic’s community. He remained, with the ex-
ception of a brief respite, for about eleven years,
and became one of the most ardent advocates, as
well as one of the most effective workers in the
erection of the new church of which we have soon
to speak.

It was in October of the same year that Father
Bokel returned to Saint Dominic’s to be superior
and pastor for the second time, having as assistants
Revs. N. D. Young, C. D. Bowling, M. F. Mec-
Grath and P. C. Coll. Father McGrath, however,
was sent elsewhere early in the next year; and
Father Bowling left, the following August, to be-
come confessor to the Dominican Sisters of Somer-
set, Ohio. 'To replace these, Rev. John H. Lynch
came, in May, and the eloquent preacher, Rev.
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Hugh P. Ralph, in November. Both were to merit
well of the congregation, and to take an active part
in the cause of a new church.

The church records also reveal the presence at
Saint Dominic’s, from July to November, 1864, of
Rev. Stephen Byrne who was to become a priest of
note, and provincial of his Order. So, too, do the
parish books show that Father C. L. Egan obtained
an occasional furlough from army duties, and that
in these intervals he returned to the convent to ex-
tend a helping hand to his brethren.

A NEW CHURCH

But we have now arrived at what may be termed
the second period in the history of Saint Dominic’s.
The original place of worship had again become
too small for the growing congregation, while
the school in the basement was overcrowded with
children. The fathers, therefore, decided in counecil,
April 10, 1865, that it was necessary to erect a
new and more commodious church, and resolved
to call a meeting of the people on Sunday, the 22nd
of the same month, to feel their pulse on the sub-
ject. :

At all the masses on that date, Father Bokel re-
quested the congregation to meet in the basement
after vespers to consider the question of a new
church. The response to the invitation was so spon-
taneous and enthusiastic, that the pastor and Fath-
er Ralph solicited subscriptions before the meeting
was dissolved. Some $10,000 were realized, to
which other contributions were soon added. .
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Encouraged by the generosity and the good-will
of the people, together with the approval of the
provincial and Archbishop Spalding, Fathers Bo-
kel, Young, Lynch, Ralph and Coll now set about
collecting further means and making preparations
to begin work on the new church, which was to be
erected on the opposite corner of their property.
The site was that on which had formerly stood the
barn of Notley Young, the grandfather, as has been
said, of the elder Dominican of the same name. At
first, it was decided to put up a brick structure
one hundred and ninety feet long by eighty-one
wide. It was to be in pointed Gothic architecture,
with side-chapels, and a tower two hundred feet
high.

The services of the noted architect, Mr. P. C.
Keeley of Brooklyn, were secured to draw plans
and to direct the construction of the sacred edifice.
But as Mr. Keeley was engaged on several other
churches at the time, some months passed before he
could give his attention to the proposed new Saint
Dominie’s. In the meantime, or while the found-
ations were rising, it was determined that, instead of
brick, the best gray granite from the well-known
quarries at Port Deposit, Maryland, should be used
for the walls. Other changes in the plans were to
give the building a clear interior of two hundred
feet in length, and to make the outward front five
and ninety feet wide. It was further decided to
extend the tower and spire to a height of two hun-
dred and fifty feet. Father Bartholomew V.
Carey, a young priest not less practical in the affairs
of the world than zealous in his spiritual minis-
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trations, was sent from Memphis, Tennessee, to
take immediate charge of the structure.

On the morning of November 9, 1865, Father J.
A. Bokel, the superior, in presence of the commun-
ity and several of the parishioners, turned the first
sod for the foundations. 'The trenches were then
rapidly dug, and one corner of the walls run up
above the ground; and in the afternoon of Sunday,
the 19th of the same month, the venerable Father
N. D. Young, with the authorization of the ordin-
ary, blessed and laid the corner-stone of the new
building. Not only did the clergy of the other
churches come for the blessing; some of them, to
add solemnity to the ceremonies, brought the chil-
dren and sodalities of their parishes in procession.
Hon. Richard Wallach, Mayor of Washington,
honored the occasion with his presence; while, in
addition to the people of the congregation, numbers
from all parts of the city, irrespective of creed or
station in life, were interested spectators. 'The
preacher for the event was Rev. Francis E. Boyle,
pastor of Saint Peter’s, and one of the noted pul-
pit orators of the day. '

- Embedded in the corner-stone was a sealed glass
vessel, in which were inclosed copies of the city
papers and leading Catholic journals of the time.
It contained also a Latin parchment of which the
following is a translation:

“A. D., November 19, 1865.

“Pius IX being the Head of the Holy Roman
Catholic Church; the most Rev. Martin Spalding
Archbishop of Baltimore; the most Rev. Vincent
Alexander Jandel, Master General of the Order of
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Friars Preacher; the Very Rev. William Dominic

~O’Carroll, O.S.D., Superior of the Province of

Saint Joseph; Andrew Johnson, President of the

United States; and Richard Wallach, Mayor of

Washington, D. C.:

“This temple, sacred to the memory of Saint
Dominic, Founder of the Order of Friars Preacher,
1s commenced anew, the former having become too
small for the increased congregation, according to
plans drawn by P. C. Keeley, Esq., under the care
and management of the local Superior, Rev. John

Albert Bokel, O. S. D., who has as his assistants -

Very Rev. N. D. Young, O.S.D., ex-provincial,
Rev. J. H. Lynch, O.S.D., Rev. H. P. Ralph, O.
S. D., and Rev. P. C. Coll, O. S. D.”

Work on the superstructure continued until the
walls reached a height of five and twenty feet.
But then there came a long halt that was due to var-
ious causes. Hard times, as always happens, had
followed the close of the war, and tightened the
purse strings. 'The people, never wealthy, felt
that they could contribute but little until the
period of money stringency had passed. New con-
vents and churches that were abuilding in Louis-
ville, Kentucky, and in the city of New York,
taxed the Dominicans to the utmost, and made the
provincial unwilling to permit the fathers in Wash-
mgton who already had a church, though it was too
small for their wants, to contract any further debts.
Thus the walls of Saint Dominic’s stood unfinished
for several years, presenting the appearance of the
ruins of some colossal castle of the middle ages.
Many, indeed, were tempted to think that the
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sacred edifice would never be completed, and that
much capital, time and labor had been sacrificed
all tp no purpose.

Although the fathers stationed in Washington
could not proceed with their church, they exerted
and stinted themselves in every way, that they
might reduce the debt, and strove to obtain contri-
butions that might be used in the future, when work
on the edifice should be resumed. Nothlng, how-
ever small, was refused.

Early in 1866, Father Lynch was called to Ken-
tucky to become pastor of Saint Dominic’s Church,
Springfield. But Father Wilson, having resigned
his priorship at Saint Rose’s, returned to Wash-
ington. In November of the same year, Father
Bokel was reappointed superior of Saint Dominic’s.
Again, in the spring of 1867, Father Wilson was
sent to New York to build the new church of Saint
Vincent Ferrer; and there he was soon joined by
Father Ralph, who had become one of the coun-
try’s leading missionaries. Rev. James A. Roo-
ney, another eloquent preacher, was sent to Wash-
ington; but he remained only from September until
the following February. ‘

Other changes in 1868 were those of Fathers
Coll and Carey. The former was sent to Louis-
ville, early in the year, to be procurator at Saint
Louis Bertrand’s, which had just been made the
house of clerical studies for the province. The lat-
ter departed, in August, for Saint Rose’s, in Ken-
tucky, to aid in teaching the postulants and younger
novices. It was from there that he returned to
Memphis, Tennessee, where he died a martyr to




devotion, October, 1873, during an epidemic of
yellow fever.

These two priests, however, were replaced by
Rev. Michael D. Lilly, afterwards provincial of
his Order, and Rev. J. V. Edelen, later honored
with the title of Preacher General. The former
came in August, 1868, and the latter in November.
Father Lilly went to New York, the next summer,
soon becoming superior at Saint Vincent Ferrer’s.
Similarly, Father Edelen, whose second term it was
in Washington, remained only one year. For in
November, 1869, he was given charge in Zanes-
ville, Ohio. But in the previous July, Rev. P. C.
Coll had returned to Washington; and before the
close of the year he succeeded Father Bokel as
superior at Saint Dominic’s.

SOME MISSIONS

But we have now arrived at a point in our narra-
tive, where it behooves us to say a word on the labors
of the fathers of Saint Dominic’s in the missions
that were attended for some years from this church.
The first of these was Saint Mary’s, Prince
George’s County, about sixteen miles southeast of
Woashington city. This mission, which embraced
a large territory, had been formerly attended by
the Jesuit Fathers. But in October, 1856, it was
placed under the care of the Dominicans, and Fath-
er Dominic Young was appointed its pastor.

Together with this charge, he looked after the
souls of the faithful in the district, in the center of
which had stood the historic Boon’s Chapel in days
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long past. It was at this chapel that the first
bishop and archbishop of the United States, the
Most Rev. John Carroll, was baptized. The little
house of God, which was one of the earliest places of
Catholic worship in Prince George’s County, had
fallen into decay, and ceased to be used for divine

. services.  Consequently, Father Young was at
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first obliged to say mass in the home of a private
family, possibly that of Mr. Henry S. Mitcail.
But feeling that the interests of religion would be
best served by a church, as well as that a place so
sacred to the Catholic history of Maryland as
Boone’s Chapel should not be suffered to be for-
gotten, the venerable missionary determined to
erect a temple of prayer in keeping with the needs
and means of these country people.

The subject was broached to the congregation,
and Mr. Mitcail offered to donate land for-the pur-
pose. Although this ground was not the site on
which had stood the old chapel, it was not far dis-
tant. It was also more conveniently located for
the mission. Accordingly, with the permission of
Archbishop Kenrick, the proffer was accepted. A
little frame church was then commenced, the corner-
stone of which was laid by Father Young himself,
June 5, 1859. He was assisted in the ceremonies
by Rev. E. Q. S. Waldron of Saint Matthew’s,
Washington, who preached the sermon for the oc-
casion.

Five months later, Sunday, October 23, the
zealous pastor, with the authorization of his metro-
politan, blessed and dedicated' the church to the
Mother of God under the title of the Most Holy
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Rosary. This time, he was assisted by his pro-
vincial, the Most Rev. Joseph A. Kelly. People of
various creeds came from far and wide to be present
on the occasion. Father Kelly, the orator of the
day, preached one of those choice, practical sermons
which he knew so well how to deliver, and was list-
ened to with rapt attention. The Church of the
Most Holy Rosary, about eighteen miles south by
east from Washington, and seven west from Marl-
boro, still stands as a witness to the aged Domini-
can’s zeal and spirit of self-sacrifice. Here he had
as penitent and parishioner Mrs. John Surcatt,
whose death, because totally innocent of the crime
for which she was executed, must forever tarnish
the pages of our history, and cover with perpetual
infamy those who brought about her condemnation.

Late in 1860, Father Young, then nearly a sep-
tuagenarian, resigned the pastorship of Marlboro
and the Most Holy Rosary. Yet he again attended
the former place off and on in 1862 and 1863.
Doubtless his resignation was induced by the fact
that age had begun to tell upon his frame, causing
his strength to be unequal to late fasts on Sunday,
and to the frequent long rides to and fro between
Washington and his distant charges.

He was succeeded by Rev. J. P. Turner, of whom
mention has been made, and who was afterwards
honored with the title of Preacher General. From
November, 1862, when Father Turner left Wash-
ington, both places were attended principally by
Rev. P. C. Coll.

Another mission which the Fathers of Saint
Dominic’s took charge of for some years, was that




of Saint Ignatius, the present Oxon Hill. This,
too, was in Prince George’s County, about eight
miles,south of the Capitol, and two from the Poto-
mac. Previously it had been attended from Alex-
andria, Virginia. But in 1865 it passed to the care
of the Friars Preacher.

Early in 1869, however, the fathers surrendered
these missions to the Carmelites, who seem to have
been seeking to establish themselves in the United
States. In all three, the ministration of the Do-
minicans had not only borne good fruit, but had
been most acceptable to a grateful people. Indeed,
to this day the white habit and black mantle of
the F'riar Preacher are remembered and cherished
by the older Catholics in those parts of Prince
George’s County.

THE “NATIONAL SOLDIERS’ HOME”

Still another apostolic labor of the fathers of
Saint Dominic’s that deserves mention is their long
charge of the “National Soldiers’ Home.” This
noted institution, situated in the northern part of
Woashington City, and about five miles from the
Dominican church, came into existence through an
act of congress passed in 1851. The Friars
Preacher had been in the National Capital but a
short time, when Archbishop Kenrick, anxious for
the spiritual welfare of the Catholic inmates, re-
quested the fathers to make the institution an object
of their zeal. Thus, early in its history, the com-
munity of Saint Dominic’s was invested with the
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Catholic chaplaincy of this historic asylum for the
aged and decrepit defenders of the country.

The care of the “Soldiers’ Home,” because of its
distance from the convent and the difficulty of
reaching it, was far from being a sinecure. On the
contrary, while it involved much labor, time and
trouble, it was long a work of charity, and a source
of considerable expense, instead of revenue. But
at the close of 1892, just when the institution had
begun to give a salary equal to the hire of an organ-
ist for the chapel, and the keeping of a horse and
buggy for the priest who attended it, the fathers
tendered the charge to Cardinal Gibbons.

The motive for this action was to aid the new
church of Saint Anthony which His Eminence was
endeavoring to establish in Brookland, where the
Catholics were too few to support a priest. Know-
ing this, Father William F. Linahan, superior
of Saint Domime’s, informed the Cardinal that
his community would be glad to resign the
chaplaincy at the “Soldiers’ Home” to aid the
cause of religion in that suburb of the city. The
expenses of the fathers in attending the institution,
he said, were equal to the remuneration which they
received; but as Saint Anthony’s was near, the
salary would enable it to maintain a pastor. In a
letter accepting the offer, the Cardinal not only
expressed his appreciation of the fathers’ good-
will, but complimented them for their spirit of
self-sacrifice and the fidelity with which they had
so long served this place of refuge for the country’s
veterans.

Thus the “Soldiers’ Home” passed from under
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the spiritual ministrations of Saint Dominic’s.
The fathers of the community had attended it for
five gnd thirty or more years, accomplished much
good, and endeared themselves to the aged and
infirm defenders of the country. Since then, how-
ever, the parish of Brookland having increased, the
charge of the institution has again been entrusted
to the care of the Dominicans. But it is now at-
tended from the House of Studies at the Catholic
University.

NEW CHURCH CONTINUED

As has been stated, Rev. Peter C. Coll became
superior at Saint Dominic’s about November, 1869.
The previous month, Father Francis Joseph Dunn
had been chosen provincial at the chapter held at
Saint Rose’s, Kentucky, to succeed Rev. William
D. O’Carroll. One of the first things to claim the
new provincial’s attention on receiving the letters
patent confirmatory of his election, was the com-
pletion of the church in Washington, which had
been so unduly delayed by his predecessor. In
pursuance of this plan, Rev. Moses B. Fortune was
sent from Memphis, in the spring of 1870, that work
on the edifice might be resumed under so capable
a manager. :

This was a move that pleased everyone. The
people of the parish were especially delighted, for
they had grown weary of looking at the ghastly,
unfinished walls, as well as of being jammed to-
gether in the old church, and of sending their chil-
dren to the overcrowded school in its basement.
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But, what with the hard times and necessary col-
lections, and what with repairs on the old walls and
the difficulty of starting anew, it was not until
nearly two years more that work on the new Saint
Dominic’s was recommenced in earnest.

In this connection, it should be noted that too
much praise cannot be given Brother Joseph Hug-
gins, who had been stationed at Saint Dominic’s in
the meantime. Few have deserved better of the
parish and community than this good lay brother.
Endowed with splendid taste, and possessed of a
considerable knowledge of architecture, as well as
being a skilled stone-dresser and a good manager
of men, he was of invaluable assistance to Father
Fortune not only in directing the work on the sac-
red edifice, but in speeding its progress. Nor was
this all. He had worked with the noted architect
before, and was conversant with his ideas. 1In this
way, when Mr. Keeley, as often happened, was so
engaged with other structures that he could not
give his attention to the Dominican church, Broth-
er Joseph was able to take his place; and the pro-
cess of building continued as if the architect him-
self were present.

Father Fortune arrived in Washington in April,
1870. Iather Bokel, however, left the city during

" the summer, and was replaced by Rev. Thomas L.

Power who remained for some years, and did yeo-
man’s service not only in the building of the church,
but in his ministrations to the parish. The year
1871 saw no change of personnel, but the records
reveal the presence of saintly Father James A.
Sheridan during the months of November and De-
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cember. He appears to have come only temporar-
ily to help the overburdened pastors in their work.

In June, 1872, the venerable Father N. D.
Young, now too feeble for active life, retired to
Saint Joseph’s, Perry County, Ohio, which he had
helped to build in 1818. The scholarly and elo-
quent Rev. Hugh F. Lilly, later a Preacher
General, came to Washington in April; but he de-
parted at the end of the summer to assume the
office of superior at Saint Rose’s Convent, Spring-
field, Kentucky, thus beginning a long term of
years, in which he presided in that capacity over
various houses of the province. Father C. L. Egan
returned to Saint Dominie’s in October; and a
month later, Father Coll was reappointed superior.

The twelvemonth of 1873 brought but one
change, that of Father Egan who became pastor in
Zanesville, at the close of the year. He was suc-
ceeded at Saint Dominic’s, the following January
or February, by Rev. J. A. Sheridan, of whom
mention has been made. In the next May, Fath-
er Coll was elected prior of Saint Joseph’s, near
Somerset, Ohio, to succeed Father Bokel, who now
returned to Washington to be superior of the in-
stitution here for the fourth time.

During the summer of 1875, two young priest